RVICE,
wsehvices.,
al L)

WIALTY
) ¢ %,

2

é DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES Public Health Service

%,
¥,
“viio

Food and Drug Administration
Rockville MD 20857

Certified Mail
Return Receipt Requested

Charles M. Singleton, M.D.
117 Tuttle Road APR 2 2 2008
San Antonio, TX 78209

Re: In the Matter of Charles M. Singleton, M.D.
Commissioner's Decision
Dear Dr. Singleton:

Please see the enclosed opinion, the "Recommended Decision" of the Presiding Officer in
the above-referenced matter, dated February 13, 2004, which I am affirming and
adopting. Ihave found that you did not repeatedly or deliberately fail to comply with the
requirements of 21 CFR Part 312.

Further, by this letter, I am providing a copy of this Decision to counsel for the Center for
Drug Evaluation and Research and to the Dockets Management Branch to be placed on
display in the public reading room.

Sincerely,
St A
Murray M. Lumipkin, M.D.
Deputy Commissioner
International and Special Prografhs

- Enclosure
cc:
i
<
Lynn Whipkey Mehler, Esq.

Associate Chief Counsel for Drugs
Office of the Chief Counsel

Food and Drug Administration
5600 Fishers Lane, GCF-1
Rockville, MD 20857



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
U.S. Food and Drug Administration
REGULATORY HEARING ON THE PROPOSAL TO DISQUALIFY
CHARLES M. SINGLETON, M.D.

FROM RECEIVING INVESTIGATIONAL NEW DRUGS

RECOMMENDED DECISION

This is a clinical investigator disqualification proceeding conducted in accordance with
21 C.F.R. Part 16 and 21 C.F.R. § 312.70. The Center for Drug Evaluation.and Research )
("CDER") asserts that Charles M. Singletc;n, M.D., repeatedly and deliberately violated certain
requirements of 21 C.F.R. Part 312 associated with his conduct of a human clinical study.
Specifically, CDER charges that Dr. Singleton:

1. Failed to prepare and maintain adequate and accurate written case histories, in
violation of 21 C.F.R. § 312.62 (b);

2. Failed to prepare and maintain adequate and accurate drug accountability records,
in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 312.62 (a); and

3. Failed to identify on Form FDA—1572 a study site at which five subjects were

enrolled, in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 312.53 (c)(1)(iii).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

After FDA's inspection of Dr. Singleton’s study in February and March 1996, FDA sent
Dr. Singleton 2 Warning Letter dated July 2, 1996, regarding certain violations the investigators

observed. The Warning Letter was sent by certified mail to Dr. Singleton at L ‘



' J CDER states in its April 6, 2000 Motion for Summary
Decision (“MSD”) that this was Dr. Singleton's last known address.'

Although sohleone at theE B jaddress accepted the Waming Letter for

delivery, Dr. Singleton was no longer at that business address, as FDA investiéators had
_previously noted in their March 1991 inspection report.” FDA received no response to the
Warning Letter.

On April 2, 1997, a Notice of Opportunity for a Hearing (“NOOH”) was sent to Dr.
Singleton, also at the incorrect[grw_,, _ ]address. This time someone there refused to
accept delivery, and the NOOH was returned to FDA. On April 24, 1997, an FDA investigator
hand-delivered the NOOH to Dr. Singleton atL I#

o ] On April 30, 1997, Dr. Singleton responded to the NOOH by letter, stating that he had
discarded the records of Protocol L ]because he thought that the records pertained to the
study of the non-sustained release form of Etodolac, which had been approved on January 31,
1991, and not the sustained release form of Etodolac}.4 Becéuse more than two years had passed
since the NDA had been approved for the nonsustained release form of the drug, Dr. Singleton
believed that FDA regulations no Ioﬂgcr required that hie retain the records. On December 5,
1997, the FDA sent a letter to Dr. Singleton, telling him that he had failed to specifically address
the issues raised in the NOOH, and had failed to indicate whether he was requesting a hearing.’

On December 18, 1997, Ms.r_ ' \_]Esq., an attorney representing Dr. Singleton, sent a

' CDER MSD at 2.

2CDER MSD Ex. 11 at 3.

* CDER MSD at 2, citing Ex. 4.
* CDER MSD at 2, citing Ex. 5.
> CDER MSD at 2, citing Ex. 6.



letter to FDA requesting a hearing.® On January 6, 1998, Ms.[ ]sent a second letter
containing Dr. Singleton's response to the charges in the NOOH.’

On April 6, 2000, CDER filed its Motion for Summary Decision. Dr. Singleton did not
file a response to CDER’s summary decision motion, despite several notices from FDA that a
response was due. By memorandum dated January 30, 2004, the Office of the Ombudsman
referred this matter to this officer for decision.

Although Dr. Singleton declined to participate further in this proceeding following the
MSD, CDER nevertheless bears the burden of establishing the necessary facts to support a
finding that the violations occurred as alleged.

In accordance with 21 C.F.R. Part.16 and § 312.70, CDER's Motion for Summary
Decision, and the supporting exhibits submitted by CDER have been reviewed. Based upon said
review, it appears that there are no factual disputes of a genuine nature with respect to the
material facts associated with the alleged violations. However, since the undisputed facts do not
support the charges made, CDER's motion must be denied. Because Dr. Singleton did not
repeatedly or deliberately violate the requirements of 21 C.F.R. 312.62 (a), (b), or 312.53
(c)(1)(iii), it is recommended that the Commissioner not disqualify Dr. Singleton from being
eligible to receive investigational new drugé. | |

As provided in 21 C.F.R. § 16.60 (e), this recommended decision includes a
recommendation on the summary decision as well as CDER's métion for disposition of this
proceeding. This recommended decision will be referred to the Commissioner of Food and

Drugs who will render a final decision on this matter in accordance with 21 C.F.R. §§ 16.95 and

312.70.

$ CDER MSD at 3, citing Ex. 7.
" CDER MSD at 3, citing Ex. 8.



REGULATORY BASIS FOR DISQUALIFICATION

In its motion, CDER alleges that Dr. Singleton repeatedly or deliberately violated several
specific requirements of the regulations set forth in 21 C.F.R. Part 312. Based on these
violations, CDER moves for disqualification pursuant to 21 C.F.R. § 312.70 (b). Section 312.70
(b) provides:

After evaluating all available information, including any explanation presented by the

investigator, if the Commissioner determines that the investigator has repeatedly or

‘deliberately failed to comply with the requirements of [Part 312] . .., or has

deliberately or repeatedly submitted false information to FDA or to the sponsor in

any required report, the Commissioner will notify the investigator and the sponsor of

any investigation in which the investigator has been named as a participant that the

investigator is not entitled to receive investigational drugs. The notification will
provide a statement of basis for such determination. [Emphasis added}.

The term "deliberately” includes conduct that is "willful," as well as conduct
demonstrating reckless disregard.s‘ Accordingly, when a clinical investigator knowingly fails to
comply with FDA's regulations, the clinical investigator may be found to have deliberately
violated the regulations. Likewise, an investigator who shows a reckless disregard for whether
his or her conduct may result in a regulatory violation may be found to have deliberately violated
the regulations. A violation occurs "repeatedly" if it happens more than once, or "again and
again."’ | _

Under 21 CF.R. § 16.26 (b), a hearing commences upon receipt by FDA of a request for
a hearing submitted under said section. Pursuant to 21 C.F.R. § 16.26, the Presiding Officer of a
Part 16 hearing is authorized to issue a summary decision on aﬁy issue if the Presiding Officer

determines from material submitted in connection with the hearing or from matters officially

noticed that there is no genuine and substantial issue of fact respecting that issue.

8 Black's Law Dictionary (6th ed. 1990); In The Matter Of James A. Halikas, Jr., M.D., Commissioner's Decision,
{January 17, 2001) ; In The Matter Of Huibert M. Vriesendorp, M.D., Commissioner's Decision, (December, 31,
2001) ; In The Matter Of Layne 0. Gentry, M.D., Presiding Officer's Decision, (September 12, 2001). .

® Webster's New World College Dictionary (4th ed. 2000); In The Matter Of James A. Halikas, Jr., M.D.,
Commissioner's Decision, (January 17, 2001); In The Matter Of Huibert M. Vriesendorp, M. D., Commissioner's
Decision, (December, 31, 2001).



The standard for administrative summary decision contained in 21 C.F.R. § 16.26 (b)
mirrors that contained in Rule 56 (c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.'® Therefore, the
body of law developed under Rule 56 serves as a guide in determining whether summary
decision is warranted. :

In ruling on a summary decision motion, the Presiding Officer as decision-maker must
determine whether there are disputed issues of material fact that need to be decided at a
hearing.'? The party requesting summaryvjudgment bears the burden of establishing the absence
of a genuine issue of material fact with respect to the essential elements of the alleged offense.’
A party opposing a properly supported mption for summary decision has the burden of showing
that a rational trier of fact could find in his or her favor and that there is a “genuine issue for

trial. ¢
Any doubts are to be resolved in favor of the non-moving party, and the non-moving

party is entitled to all justifiable inferences.'> To fulfill this burden, the nonmoving party “must
set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.”'® The mere existence of a
scintilla of evidence in support of the non-moving party’s position will be insufficient to

‘overcome a motion for summary judgment.!” Further, the opposition to a properly supported

1% Rule 56(c) states that summary judgment "shall be rendered ... if ... there is no genuine issue as to any material

fact and ... the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."
" See Puerto Rico Aqueduct & Sewer Authority v. EPA, 35 F.3d 600, 607 (1st Cir. 1994) (finding that "[f]rom its
inception, the concept of administrative summary judgment has been linked inextricably to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56," and
that,"{mjany agencies habitually look to Rule 56 case law for guidance in respect to administrative summary
judgments."); See also 53 Fed. Reg. 4613 (Feb. 17, 1988) (stating that the standard for summary decision set forth in
21 CF.R “§16.26 for denying a hearing conforms to well-settled law.").
12 See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317 (1986).

' Adickes.v. S. H. Kress, 398 U. S. 144, 157 (1970).

' Matsushita Electrical Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986).
5 Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986).
' Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(¢); Matsushita Electrical, 475 U.S. at 586; First Nat'l Bank v. Cztzes Service Co., 391 U.S. 253,.
289 (1968).
' Anderson, 477 U.S. at 252,



motion for summary judgment “must do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical

»18

doubt as to the material facts”'® and cannot rest on mere allegations.'’ ‘

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Between May 1989, and March 1991, Dr. Singleton conducted a study of a
sustained-release formulation of two strengths of the drug Etodolac, for the sponsor,
Wyeth-Ayerst Laboratbries.zo Dr. Singleton’s study, conducted under Protocol L *! was
entitled “Double-Blind Comparison of Etodolac Sustained-Release (SR) 400 and 600 mg Tablets
Administered Once Daily Versus Etodolac 300 mg Capéules Administered Twic‘e Daily
Followed by a 52-Week Open-Label Safety Study of Etodolac SR 400 and 600 mg Tablets in
patients with Osteoarthritis of the Knee.”* OnJ anuary 31, 1991, before Dr. Singleton's study
was completed, FDA approved Wyeth-Ayerst's NDA for Etodolac 300 mg Capsules.23

In April 1994, after Dr. Singleton completed tﬁe Etodolac study, he closed his private
practice and moved all of the study records to a stofage facility. Dr Singleton states that, during
1995, he discarded records of studies that he believed were no longer required to bc; kept under
the regulations.” The discarded documents-included Dr. Singleton's records from his Etodolac |
study.

On March 31, 1995, Wyeth-Ayerst submitted data collected from Dr. Singleton's study to
CDER in support of its NDA for Etodolac extended release tablets.> In F ebruary and March

1996, FDA visited Dr. Singleton to audit his study records for Protocol[__ 126 ‘On October

18 Matsushita Electrical, 475 U.S. at 586.
19 First Nat'l Bank, 391 U. S. at 289,

* CDER MSD at 5.

2 CDER MSD Ex. 8 at 1.

2 CDER MSD Ex. 9 at 1.

2 CDER MSD at 10-11.

% CDERMSD Ex. 8 at 1.

2 CDER MSD at 5-6.

% CDER MSD at 7.



25, 1996, FDA approved Wyeth-Ayerst's NDA for Etodolac extended release tablets (400 and

600 mg).”’
CHARGES )

CHARGE L. Failure to maintain adequate and accurate records of all observationé and
other data pertinent to the investigation on each individual treated with the investigational drug
or employed as a control in the investigation.

CDER alleges that Dr. Singleton violated 21 C.F.R. § 312.62 (b) by destroying and, thus,
failing to maintain copies of his study records. As the factual basis for this charge, CDER asserts
that, sometime in the year following April 1994, Dr. Singleton discarded the study-related .
records for most of the subjects enrolled 1n ProtocolL ]28 CDER argues that Dr.
Singleton's admission that he mistakenly destroyed his records proves that he failed to "maintain
adequate and accurate case histories” of the study subjects and, thus, violated the requirements of
21 C.F.R. §312.62 (b).””

CDER, however, has misapplied § 312.62 (b) and, therefore, has chérged Dr. Singleton
with a violation that he did not commit. Section 312.62 (b) requires a clinical investigator to:

prepare and maintain adeéuate and accurate case histories that record all

observations and other data pertinent to the investigation on each individual

administered the investigational drug or employed as a control in the investigation.
[Emphasis added].

In addition, § 312.62 (c) requires a clinical investigator to:

retain records required to be maintained under this part for a period of 2 years
following the date a marketing application is approved for the drug for the indication
for which it is being investigated; or, if no application is to be filed or if the
application is not approved for such indication, until 2 years after the investigation is
discontinued and FDA is notified. [Emphasis added].

2 CDER MSD at 10,
2 CDER MSD at 7-8. ‘
¥ CDER MSD at 8-10 and Ex. 5.



CDER charged Dr. Singleton with violating § 312.62 (b) when it should have charged
him with violating § 312.62 (c).. Read alone, § 312.62 (b) may be construed to mean that a
clinical investigator must "maintain" his study records beyond the end of a study. However,
when read in concert with § 312.62 (c), it is clear ﬁat § 312.62 (c), not § 312.62 (b), required Dr.
Singleton to "retain” his records beyond the date that he destroyed them. CDER's argument that
Dr. Singleton failed to maintain study records does not properly distinguish the requirements of
the two different regulations. Neither the regulations themselves, nor their preamble, define the
terms "maintain" and "retain.® When read together, however, the intended distinction is clear.
Section 312.62 (c), not § 312.62 (b), cleérly establishes the requirement that a clinical
investigator not destroy.study records for a certain period of time after a study is complete. The
language in § 312.62 (c) requiring an investigator "to retaiq records required to be maintained"
would be a redundancy if the terms "maintain” and "retain" were not intended to have différent
meanings.

Dr. Singleton did comply with the requirements of 21 C. F. R. § 312.62 (b). The
evidence in this matter, as presented by*CDER in its ﬁotion, clearly shows that Dr. Singleton did
prepare and maintain case history records during his study. Original records for S of the 21 study
subjects were found in Df. Singleton's files, and the originals of the remaining records were
obtained by FDA from the study sponsor.

Accordingly, there is no genuine and substantial issue of fact regarding whether Dr.
Singleton prépared and maintained case history recorcis during his conduct of the Etodolac study.
The evidence in this matter simply does not support the charge that Dr. Singleton's destruction of
the Etodolac study records in 1994 violated thé requirements of 21 C. F. R. § 312.62 (b).

CDER's Motion For Summary Decision as to Charge I is, therefore, denied.

%52 Fed. Reg. 8798, 8827 (March 19, 1987).



CHARGE 1I. F ailure to maintain adequate drug accountability records.

In its second charge, CDER allegés that Dr. Singleton committed two violations of 21
C.F.R. § 312.62 (a), which requires clinical investigators "to maintain adequate records of the
disposition of the drug, including dates, quantity, and use by subjects.” Each alleged violation is
discussed separately below.

A. Dr. Singleton did not have documentation showing the receipt of the Patient Package

from Wyeth-Ayerst Laboratories that céntained the study medication administered to

subject #31 (randomization #91). |

In its motion, CDER alleges that the drug accountability records made available to FDA

* during FDA's 1996 inspection of Dr. Singieton’s Etodolac study contained no documentation that

Dr. Singleton received a patient package for subject number 31, who was assigned
randomization number 91.>! CDER alleges that because subject number 31 was assigned a
randomization number, it is apparent that Dr. Singleton must have received a patient package for
this subject. Dr. Singleton assérts that subject number 31 .was dropped from the sfudy for |
protocol violations, which is why he lacked such documentation for the subject.’ 2

Re\"iew of the study &ocuments discloses that the shipping records show that four
separate shipments sent by Wyeth-Ayerst to Dr. Singleton included patient packages numbered
67 through 78, 97 through 102, 139, and 141.%3 There is no record of shipment of a patient
package numbered 91 to Dr. Singleton.

Dr. Singleton's record of randomization for subject number 31, wpose initials are

[_ ]do show that subject 31 was assigned randomization number 91.3* However, Dr.

3 CDER MSD at 13.

32 CDER MSD at 13, citing Ex, 8.
3 CDER MSD Ex. 16 at 1.

3 CDER MSD Ex. 17.



Singleton's Clinical Stock Record shows that study subjcctE_ _]was assigned randomization
number 99.%° According lto the Clinical Stock Record, subj ectL j was seen only during
"Week 0," which, apparently, was during the pre-study washout period. The study protocol
states that only acetaminophen, and not the study drug, Etodolac, was permitted to be given
duﬁng the washout period. It is noted that the entry in the Clinical Stock Record for subject
[_ 1is crossed out with a line drawn through the entire entry. This appears to be consistent

with Dr. Singleton's statement that patient number 31 was dropped from the s’cudy.36

Although based on the record in this matter it appears rather clearly that Dr. Singleton
made a typographical error in recording that patient[:_r_ _]was allocated randomization number
91, there is no need to decide whether there is a genuine dispute regarding a material fact in this
allegation. Even if Dr. Singleton committed this single violation, CDER does not allege that the
violation was intentional. Given the denial of summary decision on the remaining charges in this
matter, a single unintentional violation does not warrant disqualification under 21 C.F.R. §
312.70, and is therefore immaterial to the outcome of tﬁis matter. Accordingly, CDER's motion
for summary decision as to this violation in Charge II is denied.

B. Dr. Singleton did not have documentation showing receipt from Wyeth-Ayerst

Laboratories of the Etodolac 300 mg capsules, which were required by Protocol

L 3to be administered to the study subjects.

CDER also alleges that Dr. Singleton committed a second violation of 21 C.F.R. § 312.

62 (a) because he was unable to produce records during the FDA inspection to show the receipt

of the Etodolac 300 mg capsules from Wyeth-Ayerst.>’ CDER argues that because of the

* CDER MSD Ex. 8 at 5.
% CDER MSD Ex. 8 at 2.
3 CDER MSD at 13-14.
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absence of receipts for the bottles of 300 mg capsules, CDER could not verify that all of the
study medication was given to the subjects enrolled in the study.

Dr. Siﬂgleton did not specifically respond to this allegation in his two letters to FDA.
Putting aside the question of whether 21 C.F.R. § 312.62 (a) requires a clinical investigator to
maintain records of the receipt of the study drug from the sponsor, the facts are undisputed and
they do n(;t support the alleged violation.

According to the protocol for Dr. Singleton’s Etodolac study, the first part of the study
was a double-blind segment. *® Initially, the subjects went through a washout period, during
which acetaminophen, and not the study drug Etodolac, was to be-used for pain relief. Subjects
were then randomly assigned to one of thrée active treatment groups and given sealed patient
packages that contained an allotment of two dosages per day of the test anic'les, consistent with
one of the three blinde& regimens:b(a) Etodolac SR 400 mg in the moming and a placebo in the
afternoon; (b) Etodolac SR 600 mg in the morning and a placebo in the afternoon; or (c)
Etodolac 300 mg in the morning and a second Etodolac 300 mg in the afternoon.”

Sufficient medication for each study subject was individually packaged and code-labeled
by Wyeth-Ayerst.*’ Each package contained some additional dosages to allow for damage, loss,
and minor variations in the date of a patient's visit.*'

At the completion of the double-blind segment, subjects were penm’_tted to enter an

open-label extension of the study. In the open-label extension, the subjects received Etodolac SR

3% CDER MSD Ex. 9 at 17.

* CDER MSD Ex. 9 at 17 and 51.
“ CDER MSD Ex. 9 at 21.

.
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400 mg once daily. After two weeks, the dose given to the subjects could, at the discretion of the
investigator, be increased to the Etodolac SR 600 mg dose once daily.**

In support of the charge that Dr. Singleton did not have documentation, CDER offers as
evidence copies of shipment records from Wyeth-Ayerst to Dr. Singleton. The shipment records
show that Dr. Singleton was sent bottles of Etodolac SR 400 mg and 600 mg, bottles of |
acetaminophen, sealed patient packages containing sufficient amounts of one of the study
medications or placebos for StudyL j and boxes of hemoccults. There is no record of the
shipment of bottles of Etodolac 300 mg to Dr. Singleton.*® As to these facts, there is no genuine
and substantial dispute.

Etodolac 300 mg-capsules were to be givén to the study subjects only during the
double-blinded phase of the stﬁdy. Wyeth-Ayerst shipped sufficient quantities of all test articles
and placebos for this phase in the sealed individual patient packages sent to Dr. Singleton, which .
he then randomly gave to the study subjects. Further, in the open—labél phase of the study, Dr. .
Singleton was permitted to give the subjects only doses of either Etodolac 400 mg or 600 mg.
Etodolac 300 mg was not part of the open label study. |

In sum, it is clear from the record in this matter that Wyeth-Ayerst did not ship any
bottles of Etodolac 300 mg to Dr. Singleton for his study, except in the sealed individual patient
packages. The record clearly shows that Dr. Singleton kept records of his receipt of these
packages. There is nothing in the study protocol or elsewhere in the record of this matter
requiring Dr. .Singleton to have received any bottles of Etodolac 300 mg capsules-.

Based upon the abéve, there are no genuine and substantial issues of fact regarding this

part of Charge II and the facts do not support a conclusion that Dr. Singleton violated 21 C.F.R.

“2 CDER MSD Ex. 9 at 6 and 17.
4 CDER MSD Ex. 16.
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§ 312.62 (a). Sincé the facts do not support either of the violations under Charge 11, éDER's
motion for summary decision as to Charge Il is denied.

CHARGE III. Failure to identify one of the study sites on FDA Form 1572.

CDER alleges that Dr. Singletoﬁ violated 21 C.F.R. 312.53 (c)(1)(ii1) by failing to
identify on Form FDA 1572 the Arthritis Clinic of South Texas, 305 E. Euclid Avenue, Suite #
101, San Antonio, Texas 78212, as a study site location. CDER states that Dr. Singleton
identified only the Guadalupe Medical Clinic, 3403 Canal Street, Houston, Texas 77003, as a
facility where the clinical investigation would be conducted, despite the fact thét five subjects
were also enrolled from the Arthritis Clinic of South Texgs.“‘1 .

Dr. Singleton contended that he di-d write the address for the Arthritis Clinic on Form
FDA 1572, in response to the question on the form asking for the name and address of the
investigator.** CDER responds that, while Dr. Singleton did list the address of the Arthritis
Clinic of South Texas as the address of the investigator in response to item #1 on Form FDA
1572, he should have also given this-address in response to item #3 ("Name and address of any
medical school, hospital, or other research facility where the clinical investigation(s) will be
conducted").

CDER charges that, in putting the address of the additi‘onal study site in the wrong place
on the form, Dr. Singleton violated 21 C.F.R. § 312.53 (c), which provides:

Before permifting an investigator to begin participation in an investigation, the

sponsor shall obtain the following: )

(1) A signed investigator statement (Form FDA-1572) containing:... _

(iii) The name and address of any medical school, hospital, or other research facility

where the clinical investigation(s) will be conducted.
[Emphasis added].

“ CDER MSD at 15, citing Ex. 15.
*> CDER MSD Ex. 15,
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Neither CDER nor Dr. Singleton disputes that the information was on the form, albeit not
in its proper place. There is no need, however, to reach the issue of whether this constitutes a
violation of § 312.53 because that section clearly requires a sponsor to submit this information,
not the clinical investigator. Investigatdrs are mentioned only as persons from whom the sponsor
must obtain the required information. Accordingly, Charge III is not supported by the facts, and
therefore, CDER'S motion with respect to Charge III is denied. -

CONCLUSION
Aftér reviewing‘ the charges and evidence presented by both parties, it appears that there

is no genuine dispute as to any material fact in this matter. The undisputed facts do not support a
finding that Dr. Singleton violated any of the regulations as charged by CDER in its NOOH and
as contained in its Motion for Summary Decision. Acqordingly, CDER's motion is denied as to
all charges.

RECOMMENDATION

The retention of clinical study records by a clinical investigator for the required amount
of time is an important regulatory requirement. FDA de_pends upon the ability to inspect such
records at a study site as part of its new drug approval process. Although Dr. Singleton's |
destruction of his Etodolac study records for Protocol[_ j was premature and in clear
violation of FDA regulation, whether done mistakenly-/ or not, it was incumbent upon CDER to
cite the proper violation(s) in this matter. The incorrect charges in this case preclude a ﬁndiﬂg of
the essential elements of the alleged violations. Accordingly, it is recommended that Dr.

Singleton not be disqualified.

s
DATED this (3 )da/y of February, 2004,

s/ Daniel J. Davidson
Daniel J. Davidson
Administrative Law Judge
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